
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 
 
 
WESTERN FALCON, INC. and § 
WAGON TRAIL VENTURES, INC. § 
 § 

Plaintiffs, § 
vs. §  Case No. _______________ 
 § 
MOORE ROD & PIPE, LLC and  §   JURY DEMAND  
MOORE PIPE INC.   §     

 § 
Defendants § 

 
 
 ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 
 

Plaintiffs Western Falcon, Inc. (“Western Falcon”) and Wagon Trail Ventures, Inc. 

(“Wagon Trail”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) bring this action against defendants Moore Rod & 

Pipe, LLC (“Moore”) and Moore Pipe Inc. (“MPI”) (collectively, “Defendants”) and allege: 

 THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Western Falcon is a Texas corporation, organized and existing under the 

laws of the State of Texas with a principal place of business in Humble, Texas.  Western Falcon 

is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wagon Trail.   

2. Plaintiff Wagon Trail is a Texas corporation, organized and existing under the 

laws of the State of Texas with a principal place of business in Humble, Texas.   

3. Wagon Trial owns all right, title and interest in and to U.S. Patent No. Re 36,362 

(Exhibit 1) (the “‘362 patent”), and acquired such ownership by assignment.  Western Falcon is 

an exclusive licensee under the ‘362 patent.    

4. Defendant Moore is a Texas limited liability company, organized and existing 

under the laws of the State of Texas and has an office in Humble, Texas, in this Judicial District.  
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Moore may be served with process through its registered agent, Capitol Corporate Services, Inc., 

800 Brazos, Suite 400, Austin, Texas 78701. 

5. On information and belief, Defendant MPI is a corporation organized and existing 

under the laws of Alberta, Canada, with a registered office at 219 6203 – 28 Avenue, Edmonton, 

Alberta, Canada T6L 6K3.  Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(f), service may be made on Defendant 

MPI using a variety of methods including, but not limited to, International Registered Mail 

pursuant to Article 10(a) of the Hague Service Convention.     

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant Moore, which has transacted 

business in this Judicial District.  For example, Moore has published a website 

(www.moorerodandpipe.com) showing 1250 Indiana Street, Humble Texas as its “corporate 

address” and domestic office.  On information and belief, Moore has transmitted emails from 

that office to potential customers in Texas in an effort to secure orders for its products, including 

at least one email containing the false advertising that is one of the subjects of this lawsuit. The 

Houston Business Journal has quoted Moore as having “plans to begin operations by mid-2013 

and be staffed with 30 people by the end of the year.”  On information and belief, Moore is 

constructing, or has already constructed, its manufacturing facility at its Humble location, 

including 31,000 square feet of building space.  Also, on information and belief, Moore’s 

tortious interference has taken place from its Humble location. 

7. This Court also has personal jurisdiction over Defendant MPI, which has 

transacted business in this Judicial District in connection with the subject matter of this litigation.  

For example, on information and belief: MPI is a part owner of Moore; MPI’s president Russel 

Moore is an officer (“Manager”) of Moore; MPI has licensed the precise technology that is the 
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subject matter of this litigation to Moore; MPI has actively assisted Moore in setting up its 

operations in this Judicial District; MPI shares with Moore the same patent law firm that has 

rendered legal opinions concerning the patent-in-suit; MPI is transmitting technical and 

marketing information to Moore in this Judicial District with a purpose and effect of enabling 

Moore to induce infringement in this Judicial District; and MPI has previously shipped Shurflo 

lined tubular products and/or polymer used to make such products and/or extruded liners to 

Moore in this Judicial District, intending for such Shurflo tubular products to be ultimately 

delivered to customers in Texas and used to directly infringe the patent-in-suit.          

8. This Court has original subject-matter jurisdiction over the federal law claims in 

this action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq. (the 

Lanham Act), 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 (the Declaratory Judgments Act), and 35 U.S.C. §§ 

101 et seq. (Patent Act).  The Texas state law claims share a common nucleus of operative facts 

with the federal law claims, and this Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the Texas state law 

claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.    

9. Venue is proper in this Judicial District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1400. 

COUNT ONE:   
FALSE ADVERTISING UNDER THE LANHAM ACT 

  
10. Plaintiff Western Falcon realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-9. 

11. Defendant Moore has publicly announced that it intends to supply  

“Shurflo” polymer-lined tubular products (“Products”) to consumers.  As of October 2013, 

Moore’s website indicates that it is currently providing those Products to consumers.  On 

information and belief, at least some of the Products have been imported to Defendant Moore 

from Canada by Defendant MPI.  Also, on information and belief, Moore has begun 

Case 4:13-cv-02963   Document 1   Filed in TXSD on 10/08/13   Page 3 of 20



 
ORIGINAL COMPLAINT Page -4- 

manufacturing its own Products in the Houston area.  On information and belief, Moore is 

making its Products using polymers that are made outside Texas and shipped to its Humble 

facility, either before or after being extruded. 

12. On information and belief, Defendant Moore has made one or more false and 

misleading statements about its Products to one or more potential buyers of the Products, 

including the statement that its Shurflo SF3 product “will withstand working temperatures 

between 350 to 400F,” as well as the statement that “the use of MRP’s products does not infringe 

the above referenced patent when used only as part of a pipe string.”  Those statements are false 

and/or misleading. 

13. On information and belief, those statements actually deceived, or had the capacity 

to deceive, at least one potential buyer.  On information and belief, the polymer used in the SF3 

Product had been transported in interstate commerce and/or SF3 Product had been imported from 

Canada in interstate commerce.    

14. Western Falcon is likely to suffer injury as a result of those statements and/or 

actually has suffered injury from those statements and is also likely to suffer injury as a result of 

any statement indicating or implying that any Shurflo product is capable of withstanding 

working temperatures, or any actual downhole temperatures in an oil or gas producing well, 

above 350 degrees F and/or up to 400 degrees F (“Temperature Statements”), or that use of its 

Product “only as a part of a pipe string” does not infringe the patent. 

15. Moore’s actions complained above constitute false advertising under the Lanham 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  
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16. Western Falcon has been damaged as a result of Moore’s false statements, and 

Moore is also profiting, or has the capacity to profit, from its false statements.  Accordingly, 

Western Falcon is entitled to an injunction and recovery of damages and of Moore’s profits. 

17. On information and belief, Defendant Moore’s false statements have been made 

willfully, entitling Western Falcon to enhanced damages and attorney’s fees under 15 U.S.C. § 

1117(a).      

COUNT TWO:   
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF FALSE ADVERTISING  

  
18. Plaintiff Western Falcon realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-17. 

19. Pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, a real, immediate and 

justiciable controversy exists between Western Falcon and Moore with respect to the 

Temperature Statements.   

20. On information and belief, the Temperature Statements are false and/or 

misleading. 

21. On information and belief, the Temperature Statements have actually deceived, or 

had the capacity to deceive, at least one potential buyer; and if such Temperature Statements 

continue to be made to other potential buyers, they have the capacity to deceive those other 

potential buyers.     

22. Western Falcon is likely to suffer injury and to be damaged as a result of the false 

and/or misleading Temperature Statements.  

23. Western Falcon requests a declaration by the Court that the false and/or 

misleading Temperature Statements constitute false advertising under the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a).  
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COUNT THREE:  
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT  

FOR INDUCEMENT OF INFRINGEMENT BY MOORE 
 

24. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-23. 

25. Pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 a real, immediate and 

justiciable controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Moore with respect to Moore’s inducement 

of infringement of the ‘362 patent, and between Plaintiffs and MPI with respect to MPI’s 

inducement of infringement of the ‘362 patent. 

26. Certain customers of Moore who produce oil or gas from wells using rod 

pumping systems will perform such production using lined tubing sections that include Shurflo 

Products supplied by Moore (“Moore Accused Methods”). 

27. Plaintiffs contend that any customer who practices the Moore Accused Methods 

will directly infringe one or more claims of the ‘362 patent.  

28. On information and belief, Defendant Moore has taken a number of concrete steps 

in preparation for inducing infringement of the ‘362 patent and has evidenced its intent to induce 

direct infringement of the ‘362 patent.  On information and belief, Defendant MPI has been 

actively assisting Moore in such preparations and inducement, including but not limited to 

supplying Products and/or polymer to Moore and information pursuant to a license agreement, 

and information designed for presentation to Moore customers that encourage infringement.  

29. On information and belief, as of the filing of this lawsuit, Moore: has the 

capability to manufacture Shurflo Products at its facility in Humble, Texas; has the equipment, 

employees, and technical know-how sufficient to manufacture Shurflo Products; and has already 

begun to manufacture such Shurflo Products at that facility and/or has imported Shurflo Products 

to its facility from MPI.   

Case 4:13-cv-02963   Document 1   Filed in TXSD on 10/08/13   Page 6 of 20



 
ORIGINAL COMPLAINT Page -7- 

30. Moore has been advertising, marketing, and otherwise promoting the use of 

Shurflo Products for use in rod pumping wells with the knowledge that use of Shurflo Products 

in rod pumping wells that produce oil or gas will directly infringe the ‘362 patent.  On its website 

(www.moorerodandpipe.com), on the “Shurflo Tubular Linings” page, one of seven bullet points 

under the phrase “Shur-Flo Liner Advantages” is the statement: “Reduced rod and tubing friction 

means reduced peak polish rod load.”   On information and belief, that information was provided 

to Moore by MPI. 

31. As of October 4, 2013, Moore’s website states that Moore “is a leading innovator 

in the area of artificial lift and our products are proven to enhance these applications utilizing our 

ENDLESS ROD™, Coated Rod and Shurflo Tubular Lining.”  That website also identifies 

Shurflo Tubular Linings as “a plastic liner which has proven to eliminate corrosion and 

dramatically reduce sucker rod wear in artificially lifted wells.”  That website demonstrates that 

Moore is not acting alone, but rather with MPI.   

32. Moore has had communications with one or more Western Falcon customers 

(“Customer Communications”).  

33. In one or more of those Customer Communications, Moore promoted its Shurflo 

Products to the customer(s) for use in rod pumping wells, and promoted the Products in 

performing a Moore Accused Method. 

34. In one or more of those Customer Communications, Moore made the 

representation that, based on consultation with its patent attorneys, it is “confident that the use of 

MRP’s products does not infringe the above-referenced patent when used only as a part of a pipe 

string.”   
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35. Moore’s representation that “the use of MRP’s products does not infringe the 

above-referenced patent when used only as a part of a pipe string” is incorrect, and Moore either 

knew or reasonably should have known that the representation was incorrect.        

36. Claims 1 and 2 of the ‘362 patent each recites: “An improved method of 

producing well fluids from a well being produced by a rod pumping system, said rod pumping 

system comprising [the elements recited in the remainder of each claim].”   

37. To the extent any of Moore’s customers obtain Shurflo Products, install the 

Products in a well configured to produce fluids (oil and/or gas) using a rod pumping system, and 

perform a method of production using that rod pumping system with Shurflo Products as set 

forth below, Plaintiffs contend that such customer will directly infringe at least Claims 1 and 2 of 

the ‘362 patent. 

38. In the methods of Claim 1 and 2, the rod pumping system comprises “a plurality 

of sucker rods disposed within a string of tubing which extends into said well.”   

39. Correspondingly, in the Moore Accused Methods, each of the rod pumping 

systems used by Moore’s Shurflo customers will comprise (include) a “plurality of sucker rods 

disposed within a string of tubing which extends into said well,” as recited in Claims 1 and 2.   

40. In the methods of Claims 1 and 2, “the string of tubing compris[es] of a plurality 

of tubing sections each having a bore and an inside diameter.” 

41. Correspondingly, in the Moore Accused Methods, any “string of tubing” used by 

a customer will comprise (include) a “plurality of tubing sections,” and each of those tubing 

sections will have “a bore and an inside diameter,” as recited in Claims 1 and 2. 

42. In the methods of Claims 1 and 2, the rod pumping system comprises “a down 

hole pump operably connected to said sucker rods.”   
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43. Correspondingly, in the Moore Accused Methods, each rod pumping system will 

include a “down hole pump operably connected to said sucker rods,” as recited in Claims 1 and 

2. 

44. In the methods of Claims 1 and 2, the rod pumping system comprises “means for 

reciprocating said sucker rods.”   

45. Correspondingly, in the Moore Accused Methods, each rod pumping system also 

includes the “means for reciprocating said sucker rods,” as  recited in Claims 1 and 2. 

46. Claims 1 and 2 each recites that “the improved method comprises using tubing 

sections having polymer liners disposed within said bore of said tubing sections to eliminate 

contact between said sucker rods and said tubing string when said sucker rods are being 

reciprocated.” 

47. Correspondingly, the Moore Accused Methods comprise “using tubing sections 

having polymer liners disposed within said bore of said tubing sections to eliminate contact 

between said sucker rods and said tubing string when said sucker rods are being reciprocated,” as 

recited in Claims 1 and 2. 

48. Claim 2 recites that the “liners comprise a polyethylene material.” 

49. Correspondingly, in the Moore Accused Methods, the liners used in the Products 

each comprises a polyethylene material. 

50. Moore has been, and still is, encouraging and inducing its actual and/or potential 

customers to use its Shurflo Products in Moore Accused Methods.  On information and belief, 

MPI has been assisting in such encouragement and inducement.  
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51. Moore has been, and still is, encouraging and inducing its actual and/or potential 

customers to use its Shurflo Products in a way that directly infringes one or more claims of the 

‘362 patent including, but not limited to, Claims 1 and 2 as set forth above. 

52. By June 11, 2013, or earlier, Moore and MPI have been aware of the ‘362 patent. 

53. By June 11, 2013, or earlier, Moore and MPI been aware of how the use of 

Shurflo by Moore’s customers would result in direct infringement.  Accordingly, any activity 

undertaken or continued by Moore since June 11, 2013, or earlier, has been with notice and 

knowledge of the patent and has been willful and deliberate. 

54. Pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, Western Falcon 

requests a declaration by the Court that any conduct by Moore and MPI that encourages 

customers to use Moore’s Shurflo Products in manner that directly infringes any claim of the 

‘362 patent constitutes inducement of infringement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), where 

such conduct includes providing Products to customers who use such Products in a production 

well that uses a rod pumping system with sucker rods.   

55. As a result of any inducement by Moore and MPI, Western Falcon would be 

irreparably damaged to an extent not yet determined.  As such, Western Falcon requests that 

Moore be enjoined by this Court, temporarily and permanently, from committing any acts 

declared by the Court to constitute inducement of infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

COUNT FOUR:  
INDUCEMENT OF INFRINGEMENT BY MPI 

 
56. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-55. 

57. On information and belief, as summarized below, MPI has committed inducement 

of infringement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b).  For many years, MPI has been advertising its 

Shurflo Products, including advertisements on its website (www.moorepipe.com).  That website 
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has included a downloadable PDF brochure that lists “rod pumping oil wells” as one of the 

“lined tubing applications” for the Shurflo products and touts “less rod wear” as one of the 

advantages of its Shurflo Products.  However, MPI is a Canadian company, and Plaintiffs have 

not been aware of any sales of Products to end-users inside the United States—until recently.   

58. On information and belief, in the first quarter of 2013, if not earlier, MPI has 

begun to import quantities of Shurflo Products to at least one of its distributors in the United 

States with knowledge that the distributor would be supplying those Products to at least one end-

user who would be using the Products in rod pumping production wells in the United States 

(“MPI Accused Methods”).  

59. Plaintiffs contend that any customer who has practiced the MPI Accused Methods 

has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘362 patent. 

60. On information and belief, at least one of those end-users—Surge Energy, Inc.—

has actually installed Shurflo Products in oil or gas wells and begun producing fluids (e.g., oil 

and/or gas) using MPI’s Shurflo Products, using the MPI Accused Methods.   

61.  Claims 1 and 2 of the ‘362 patent each recites: “An improved method of 

producing well fluids from a well being produced by a rod pumping system, said rod pumping 

system comprising [elements recited in the remainder of the claim].”   

62. Correspondingly, on information and belief, Surge Energy, and possibly others, 

have performed the MPI Accused Methods, including one or more methods of producing well 

fluids from a well being produced by a rod pumping system, comprising the elements recited in 

Claims 1 and 2, and thus have directly infringed the ‘362 patent.  

63. In the methods of Claims 1 and 2, the rod pumping system comprises “a plurality 

of sucker rods disposed within a string of tubing which extends into said well.”   
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64. Correspondingly, in the MPI Accused Methods, each of the rod pumping systems 

used by Surge Energy, and possibly other MPI’s Shurflo customers, comprises (includes) a 

“plurality of sucker rods disposed within a string of tubing which extends into said well,” as 

recited in Claims 1 and 2.   

65. In the methods of Claims 1 and 2, “the string of tubing compris[es] of a plurality 

of tubing sections each having a bore and an inside diameter.” 

66. Correspondingly, in the MPI Accused Methods performed by Surge Energy and 

possibly other end-users, any “string of tubing” used by Surge Energy or that customer 

comprises (includes) a “plurality of tubing sections,” and each of those tubing sections has “a 

bore and an inside diameter,” as recited in Claims 1 and 2. 

67. In the method of Claims 1 and 2, the rod pumping system comprises “a down hole 

pump operably connected to said sucker rods.”   

68. Correspondingly, in the MPI Accused Methods, each rod pumping system 

includes a “down hole pump operably connected to said sucker rods,” as recited in Claims 1 and 

2. 

69. In the method of Claims 1 and 2, the rod pumping system comprises “means for 

reciprocating said sucker rods.”   

70. Correspondingly, in the MPI Accused Methods, each rod pumping system also 

comprises (includes) the “means for reciprocating said sucker rods” recited in Claims 1 and 2. 

71. Claims 1 and 2 each recites that “the improved method comprises using tubing 

sections having polymer liners disposed within said bore of said tubing sections to eliminate 

contact between said sucker rods and said tubing string when said sucker rods are being 

reciprocated.” 
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72. Correspondingly, the MPI Accused Methods likewise comprise “using tubing 

sections having polymer liners disposed within said bore of said tubing sections to eliminate 

contact between said sucker rods and said tubing string when said sucker rods are being 

reciprocated,” as recited in Claims 1 and 2. 

 73. Claim 2 recites that the “liners comprise a polyethylene material.” 

74. Correspondingly, in the MPI Accused Methods, the liners used in the Products 

each comprise a polyethylene material. 

75. On information and belief, MPI has been, and still is, encouraging and inducing 

its actual and/or potential customers to use its Products in a way that directly infringes one or 

more claims of the ‘362 patent including, but not limited to, Claims 1 and 2, as set forth above. 

76. MPI was first notified of the ‘362 patent at least as early as April 19, 2013. 

77. On information and belief, on or about April 19, 2013, MPI received, via Federal 

Express, a copy of the ‘362 patent and a summary of how the use of the Products infringes the 

‘362 patent.  By April 19, 2013, or earlier, MPI was aware of that patent and how the use of the 

Products would result in direct infringement.  Accordingly, any activity undertaken or continued 

by MPI on April 19, 2013, or later, has been with notice and knowledge of the patent and has 

been willful and deliberate. 

78. The conduct by MPI that has encouraged customers, including Surge Energy, to 

use MPI’s Shurflo polymer-lined tubing in manner that directly infringes one or more claims of 

the ‘362 patent constitutes inducement of infringement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b).   

79. As a result of the inducement by MPI, Western Falcon will be—and has been—

irreparably damaged to an extent not yet determined.  As such, Western Falcon requests that MPI 
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be enjoined by this Court, temporarily and permanently, from committing any inducement of 

infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

COUNT FIVE:   
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL CUSTOMERS   

80. Plaintiff Western Falcon realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-79. 

81. On information and belief, Defendant Moore has published one or more false 

and/or misleading statements to existing or potential customers of Western Falcon, including the 

Temperature Statements, and also the statement that “the use of MRP’s products does not 

infringe the above referenced patent when used only as part of a pipe string.”  (See Counts One 

and Two.)  On information and belief, such statements were made maliciously, intentionally, and 

without just cause or excuse.  

82. On information and belief, there is and has been a reasonable probability that 

Western Falcon would have maintained, renewed, or entered into a business relationship and/or 

valid contract with such existing or potential customer(s).  

83. On information and belief, Moore was aware of the existing relationship and/or 

contract(s) between Western Falcon and the existing or potential customers and intended for 

these false, misleading, and disparaging statements to have interfered with Western Falcon’s 

existing and/or potential contracts or business relationships with such existing and/or potential 

customers.  

84. On information and belief, Western Falcon has suffered actual damages, and the 

published statements by Moore to potential and/or existing customers of Western Falcon were 

the proximate cause of the financial loss to Western Falcon.  
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COUNT SIX:   
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH WESTERN FALCON EMPLOYEE  

85. Plaintiff Western Falcon realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-84. 

86. On or about October 9, 2012, Western Falcon entered into a valid Non-Compete 

and Nondisclosure Agreement with one of its employees, George Palmer (“Palmer Agreement”).  

During his employment with Western Falcon, Mr. Palmer received confidential information and 

trade secrets of Western Falcon, including Western Falcon Information (see Count Seven), and 

Mr. Palmer’s job duties with Western Falcon was to sell Western Falcon lined tubular products 

and to encourage customers to use the lined tubular products in a manner covered by the ‘362 

patent.  The information he communicated to customers included the temperature capabilities of 

the lined tubular products.  Mr. Palmer’s customer base included Texas.      

87. On information and belief, at some point in September 2013, Defendant Moore 

contacted George Palmer and encouraged Mr. Palmer to quit his employment with Western 

Falcon and go work for Moore.   

88. On information and belief, Moore knew of the Palmer Agreement. 

89.  On information and belief, Moore knew of the Palmer Agreement and that, by 

working for Moore Mr. Palmer would be in breach of that Agreement.   

90. On information and belief, as an employee of Moore, Mr. Palmer’s duties will be 

similar to his former duties with Western Falcon, e.g., to sell lined tubular products that are 

directly competitive with Western Falcon, including the Shurflo Products that are the subject of 

this lawsuit, and to encourage customers to use the Products in a manner covered by the ‘362 

patent.  On information and belief, Mr. Palmer’s customer base for Moore will be in Texas. 
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91. On information and belief, Moore hired Mr. Palmer, and encouraged him to 

breach the Palmer Agreement willfully, intentionally, maliciously, and without just cause or 

excuse.  

92.  On information and belief, Western Falcon has suffered actual damages and/or 

loss as a proximate cause of Moore’s intentional act(s)..  

COUNT SEVEN:   
TRADE SECRET MISAPPROPRIATION  

93. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-92.  

94. On information and belief, Defendant Moore has misappropriated Plaintiffs’ trade 

secrets in violation of the Texas Uniform Trade Secrets Act, Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 

134A.002 (“TUTSA”).  For example, on information and belief, Moore has acquired, using 

improper means, technical, business, customer, and financial information relating to Western 

Falcon polymer liners and lined tubulars, including, but not limited to: (a) the identities of 

Western Falcon’s polymer supplier and its extrusion company; (b) the specific grades of 

polymers used by Western Falcon to make certain of its lined tubular products; and (c) the 

specific prices paid by Western Falcon for such polymers (collectively, (a), (b), and (c) are 

referred to herein as “Polymer Information”).   

95. The technical, business, customer, and financial information acquired by Moore 

relating to Western Falcon polymer liners and lined tubulars, including, but not limited to, the 

Polymer Information (“Western Falcon Information”), qualifies as “trade secrets” under the 

Texas law.  The Western Falcon lined tubular products that are the subject of the trade secrets 

include Polycore™, Enertube™, UltraTube™ and Extreme Tube™, which are the same products 

that, when used by customers in a rod pumping well, are covered by the ‘362 patent.  The trade 

secrets include the temperature capabilities of the liners (see Counts One and Two). 
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96. The Western Falcon Information derives independent economic value, actual or 

potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper 

means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use. 

97. The Western Falcon Information is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under 

the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. 

98. Plaintiffs have suffered injury and actual loss caused by the misappropriation by 

Moore, and Moore has been unjustly enriched. 

99. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover from Moore damages to account for its injury and 

actual loss, and also for Moore’s unjust enrichment resulting from its misappropriation.  

100. Plaintiffs are also entitled to a temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunction 

against Moore for the misappropriation. 

 DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs Western Falcon and Wagon Trail demand trial by jury on all claims and issues 

so triable. 

 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for entry of judgment: 

A. Finding that Moore has engaged in false advertising in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 
1125(a) and a declaration that Moore’s Temperature Statements are false and 
misleading; 
 

B. Finding that Moore’s false advertising has been done deliberately, willfully and 
recklessly in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1117;s 

 
C. Awarding Western Falcon compensatory and exemplary damages associated with 

or caused by Moore’s violations of  15 U.S.C. § 1125(a); 
 

D. Awarding Western Falcon recovery of Moore’s profits associated with or caused 
by Moore’s violations of  15 U.S.C. § 1125(a); 
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E. Ordering that Moore and its officers, directors, agents, employees, 
representatives, successors, and assigns, if any, as well as those in privity with 
Moore and those who have acted in concert with Moore, be temporarily and 
permanently enjoined from engaging in further acts of false advertising; 
 

F. Ordering Moore to engage in corrective advertising, including informing the 
relevant consumers that its Shurflo Products are not capable of withstanding 
working temperatures in an oil or gas well of above 350 degrees F or up to 400 
degrees F; 

 
G. Finding that Moore has engaged in tortious interference with actual contractual 

relationships between Western Falcon and its customers and with its employees, 
including, but not limited to, George Palmer; 

 
H. Awarding Western Falcon damages caused by such interference with actual 

contractual relationships; 
 

I. Finding that Moore has engaged in tortious interference with prospective 
contractual relationships; 

 
J. Awarding Western Falcon damages caused by such interference with prospective 

contractual relationships; 
 

K. Declaring that any conduct by Moore or MPI that encourages customers to 
perform Moore Accused Methods constitutes inducement of infringement of U.S. 
Patent No. Re 36,362 in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), where such conduct 
includes providing Shurflo Products to customers who use such Shurflo tubing in 
a production well that uses a rod pumping system with sucker rods; 

   
L. Ordering Moore and MPI and each of their officers, directors, agents, employees, 

representatives, successors, and assigns, if any, as well as those in privity with 
Moore or MPI and those who have acted in concert with Moore or MPI, to cease 
and desist from engaging in any conduct that encourages any end-user to perform 
Moore Accused Methods, including supplying such end-user with Shurflo 
Products or to otherwise engage in any conduct that constitutes inducement of 
infringement of U.S. Patent No. Re 36,362; 

 
M. Finding that MPI has engaged in inducement of infringement in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(b) where such conduct has included providing Shurflo Products to 
customers who use such Shurflo Products in a production well that uses a rod 
pumping system with sucker rods; 

 
N. Finding MPI jointly and severally liable for all direct infringement induced by 

MPI and awarding Western Falcon all damages for such infringement, including 
lost profits and at the very least a reasonable royalty; 
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O. Finding that MPI’s intent to induce infringement has been willful and that all 
damages recovered as a result of the inducement to infringe be enhanced for up to 
treble damages; 

 
P. Finding that Moore has misappropriated Plaintiffs’ trade secrets; 

  
Q. Awarding Plaintiffs damages for the misappropriation; 

 
R. Ordering that Moore and its officers, directors, agents, employees, 

representatives, successors, and assigns, if any, as well as those in privity with 
Moore and those who have acted in concert with Moore, be temporarily and 
permanently enjoined from using the trade secrets; 

 
S. Finding that MPI’s intent to induce infringement has been willful and that all 

damages recovered as a result of the inducement to infringe be enhanced for up to 
treble damages; 

 
T. Finding that this is an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 284 against MPI, 

entitling Western Falcon to recovery of its attorney’s fees; 
 

U. Awarding Western Falcon its reasonable attorney’s fees and costs for its case 
against MPI; 

 
V. Awarding Western Falcon pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the highest 

rate permitted by law; and 
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W. Awarding Plaintiffs such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper under the circumstances.   
   
 

 Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  October 8, 2013   By:   /s/ Douglas H. Elliott 
  Douglas H. Elliott 
  Attorney-In-Charge 
  Texas Bar No. 06535900 
    S.D. Admission No. 7830 
  delliott@elliottiplaw.com 

   THE ELLIOTT LAW FIRM 
   6750 West Loop South, Suite 995 
   Bellaire, Texas 77401 
   Telephone: (832) 485-3560 
   Facsimile:  (832) 485-3511 
   
   Dale Jefferson  
 Of Counsel 

  Texas Bar No. 10607900 
    S.D. Admission No. 9116 

   jefferson@mdjwlaw.com 
   MARTIN, DISIERE, JEFFERSON & WISDOM, LLP 
   808 Travis, 20th Floor 
   Houston, Texas 77002  
   Telephone: (713) 632-1700 
   Facsimile:  (713) 632-0101 

COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS 
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